No. 71068-1-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SCOTT WALTER MAZIAR,

Respondent,

v.

THE WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

Appellants.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Presented By:

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Patricia D. Todd, WSBA #38074 Michael P. Lynch, WSBA #10913, Laura J. Watson, WSBA #28452 OID #91023 Assistant Attorneys General Attorneys for Appellant State of Washington P.O. Box 40126 Olympia, WA 98504 (360) 586-6300

A. Identity Of Petitioner

The State of Washington Department of Corrections (State) respectively requests that this Court grant review of the Court of Appeals decision *Maziar v. Washington State Dep't of Corr.*, No. 71068-1-I, slip op. at 4 (Wash. Mar. 24, 2014), and remand for a jury trial. The decision involves significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington, conflicts with prior decisions of this Court, and involves a substantial public interest, which make it appropriate for a petition for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)(3) and (4). The State seeks review of the conclusion that there is no right to a jury trial in a negligence action for money damages against the State.

B. Court Of Appeals Decision

The State of Washington seeks review of the part of the decision of the Court of Appeals which held that there is no right to a jury trial in a tort action against the State of Washington. The Court of Appeals decision was filed on March 24, 2014, (see Appendix A) and the State's motion for reconsideration was denied on May 7, 2014. A copy of the order denying petitioner's motion for reconsideration is at Appendix B.

C. Issues Presented For Review.

- 1. Whether there is a right to a jury trial in tort actions against the state.
- 2. Whether the Court of Appeals erroneously concluded that article 1, section 21, never grants a jury trial right to the State.

D. Statement Of The Case

1. Procedural History Before The Trial Court

This case arises out of the claim by Scott Maziar that he was injured in his employment as a correctional officer on McNeil Island. CP at 2. Specifically, Mr. Maziar alleges that while he sat aboard the McNeil Island ferry the captain pulled a chair out from under his propped-up feet, causing him to suffer serious injury. CP at 3. In addition to receiving worker's compensation benefits, Mr. Maziar sued the Department of Corrections in tort under a general maritime negligence theory. CP at 132, 1, 4-5.

Initially, Mr. Maziar requested a jury trial. CP at 12. However, on the eve of trial he withdrew his request. CP at 12, 14-22. The State objected and demanded a jury trial. CP at 23-30. Mr. Maziar argued there was no right to a jury trial in a general maritime negligence suit. CP at 209, 211. The trial court agreed with Maziar, denied the State's request, and conducted a bench trial. CP at 238. During that trial, the

questions of Mr. Maziar's credibility and the nature and extent of his damages were highly disputed. Ultimately, the trial court awarded Mr. Maziar \$572,251.25 in general damages and \$12,487.50 in lost wages, for a total of \$585,000. CP at 133, 140-41.

2. Procedural History Before the Court of Appeals

The State appealed the trial court's denial of its demand for a jury trial. The issue before the Court of Appeals, as briefed by the parties, was whether a right to a jury trial existed at the time of statehood in a general maritime negligence claim for money damages. Mr. Maziar argued that no such right existed relying upon *Phelps v. The City of Panama*, 1 Wash. Terr. 518, 536 (1877). The Court of Appeals correctly rejected Maziar's arguments and concluded that there was a right to a jury trial in a general maritime case. *Maziar*, slip op. at 4-6. But the court did not stop there.

After correctly determining that a right to jury trial existed in a general maritime negligence lawsuit, the Court of Appeals then raised on its own the issue of whether such a right applied in a tort lawsuit against the State. The Court of Appeals determined that article 1, section 21 of the Washington State Constitution did not grant the State a right to jury

¹ Although the judge found that the doctors who performed surgeries on Mr. Maziar could not attribute their treatment of Mr. Maziar to the alleged injury aboard the ferry, the court nonetheless awarded him over a half a million dollars for pain and suffering, and emotional distress. CP at 133, 137-38. The court also found Mr. Maziar could perform light duty work and did not mitigate his wage loss. CP at 136, 140.

trial because article 1 generally only applies only to individual rights. *Maziar*, slip op. at 13-14. The court then addressed the State's argument that a statutory right to a jury trial existed in tort lawsuits against the State pursuant to RCW 4.40.060² and RCW 4.44.080.³

The Court of Appeals held that neither of those statutes was applicable to lawsuits against the State because they were passed in 1854 and 1869 respectively, which was prior to statehood and the State's waiver of sovereign immunity. *Maziar*, slip op. at 20, 23. Although the State's waiver of sovereign immunity, in 1961, is codified in RCW 4.92.090, the Court of Appeals did not cite or analyze that statute in its opinion. RCW 4.92.090 specifically provides that the State of Washington, whether acting in its governmental or proprietary capacity *shall be liable for damages arising out of its tortious conduct to the same extent as if it were a private person or corporation*. (Emphasis added.)

The State filed a motion requesting the Court of Appeals reconsider its holding that there was no right to a jury trial in a tort action against the State. The motion for reconsideration was the first time the

² RCW 4.40.060 provides: "An issue of fact, in an action for the recovery of money only, or of specific real or personal property shall be tried by a jury, unless a jury is waived, as provided by law, or a reference ordered, as provided by statute relating to referees."

³ RCW 4.44.080 states, "All questions of law including the admissibility of testimony, the facts preliminary to such admission, and the construction of statutes and other writings, and other rules of evidence, are to be decided by the court, and all discussions of law addressed to it."

State had an opportunity to brief this issue.⁴ On May 7, 2014, the Court of Appeals denied the State's motion for reconsideration whereupon, the State timely submits this petition for review.

E. Argument

1. Statutes That Afford All Other Parties In A Civil Lawsuit The Right To Trial By Jury Apply Equally To Tort Lawsuits Against The State

RCW 4.40.060 creates a right to trial by jury in an action for the recovery of money unless the jury is waived. *See* footnote 3, *supra*. RCW 4.44.090 directs that all questions of fact shall be decided by jury. *See* footnote 4, *supra*.

Even prior to statehood, the failure to afford a party the statutory right to have issues of fact determined by a jury was *per se* reversible error. *See Johnson v. Goodtime*, 1 Wash. Terr. 484 (1875) (a court may not try a cause of action involving an issue of fact where there has been no waiver of jury trial, as provided by statute).

The Court of Appeals erroneously concluded that these statutes do not grant a right to a jury trial in tort actions against the State. The flaw in the court's analysis is its retrospective focus. In short, the court concluded

⁴ Although the Court of Appeals' opinion indicates that the State did not provide any argument or any authority on this issue that is because it was not raised as part of the appeal by the parties, but only raised by the court for the first time in oral argument. See Maziar, slip op. at 15, citing Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 828 P.2d 549 (1992).

that because RCW 4.40.060 and 4.44.090 were passed in 1854 and 1869, before statehood and the State's waiver of sovereign immunity in 1961 (RCW 4.92.090), the Legislature could not have intended that a right to trial by jury would exist in such a proceeding.⁵ *Maziar*, slip op. at 20-21, 23.

In so holding, the Court of Appeals ignored this Court's flexible two-step approach for determining whether there is a jury trial right in a particular action. First, the Court determines the scope of the jury trial right as it existed in 1889. *Endicott v. Icicle Seafoods, Inc*, 167 Wn.2d 873, 884, 224 P.3d 761 (2010). Relevant here, "the determination of damages in an action at law was within the jury's province in 1889." *Id.* Second, the Court asks whether the type of action is analogous to an action that existed in 1889. *Id.* Also relevant here, negligence actions are analogous to tort theories that existed in 1889. *Id.*

Applying the two-step test, this Court concluded in *Endicott* that there is a right to a jury trial in a Jones Act case against a maritime employer. *Id.* at 885. Even though maritime employees couldn't sue their employers for negligence in 1889, this Court reasoned that Jones Act lawsuits are similar to the type of actions that could have been brought

⁵ Actually, although both statutes were initially passed in territorial times, current RCW 4.40.060 was enacted by the Washington State Legislature in 1893, four years after statehood. Laws of 1893, c. 127 § 33.

against non-maritime employers at common law. *Id.* Likewise, although state employees could not sue their state employers for negligence at common law, such actions are similar to common law actions that could have been pursued against non-state employers.⁶ The Court of Appeals erred in concluding otherwise.

The Court of Appeals also erred by failing to analyze what the law was in 1961 when the Legislature waived the State's sovereign immunity and created liability for the State to the same extent as private persons and corporations. At that time, the law provided a right to trial by jury and all questions fact. cases involving money damages and See RCW 4.40.060 and 4.44.090. Undoubtedly, the Legislature was aware of these statutes that afforded private persons and corporations a right to trial in tort lawsuits. See RCW 4.40.060 and 4.44.090. The Legislature is presumed to know the laws that exist at the time it passes a statute. Thurston County v. Gorton, 85 Wn.2d 133, 530 P.2d 309 (1975). Unless the Legislature specified that no right to trial by jury existed in a tort

⁶ Although *Endicott* interpreted the constitutional right to a jury trial rather than the statutory right, its reasoning is helpful to the statutory analysis because the statutory jury trial right has been interpreted as being generally coextensive with the constitutional right to jury trial, both extending to the type of actions at law, as opposed to actions in equity, that were in existence at the time the statutes were enacted. *Dexter Horton Bldg. Co. v. King County*, 10 Wn.2d 186, 193-94, 116 P.2d 507 (1941).

⁷ Furthermore, at the time when the State waived sovereign immunity in 1961, RCW 4.44.100 also afforded a right to trial by jury. However, it was repealed in 1984 because it was deemed to be superseded by Civil Rule 38. See Sackett v. Santilli, 146 Wn.2d 498, 507-08, 47 P.3d 948 (2002).

action against the State, there is no reason to believe that it intended the laws then providing such a right in other cases would not apply in an action brought pursuant to RCW 4.92.090.

The Court of Appeals' conclusion that tort lawsuits against the State, unlike any other tort lawsuits, have no right to trial by jury is also contrary to the express language of RCW 4.92.090:

The state of Washington, whether acting in its governmental or proprietary capacity shall be liable for damages arising out of its tortious conduct to the same extent as if it were a private person or corporation.

(Emphasis added.)8

Thus, under RCW 4.92.090, the Legislature required that the State be treated "as if it were a private person or corporation" in any personal injury litigation.⁹

Two leading legal authorities on the waiver of the State's sovereign immunity have reached this same conclusion:

The Legislature fashioned a broad waiver of sovereign immunity that subjects governmental entities to tort liability as if they were private sector defendants. The

⁸ The waiver of sovereign immunity was originally enacted in 1961. Laws of 1961, c. 136 § 1. Two years later, the Legislature amended it to read as it currently does. Laws of 1963, c. 159 § 2.

⁹ In Beurklian v. Allen, 385 Mass. 1009, 432 N.E.2d 707 (1982), the Massachusetts Supreme Court addressed that State's waiver of sovereign immunity where "public employers shall be liable in the same manner and to the same extent as a private individual under like circumstances." G.L.C. 258, S2. The court concluded that the legislature intended that tort actions against the state be governed by the same principles that apply to tort actions involving private parties, including the right to trial by jury. Beurklian, 432 N.E.2d at 708.

Washington Supreme Court has properly recognized and effectuated this intent, and the Legislature has not sought to retreat from its commitment to the broad waiver.

See Debra L. Stephens, Bryan P. Harneteiux, The Value of Government Tort Liability: Washington State's Journey from Immunity to Accountability, 30 Seattle U. L. Rev. 35, 61 (2006). (Emphasis added.)

By erroneously focusing on what the law was in 1854 and 1869, the Court of Appeals not only ignored what lawmakers intended in 1961 when they enacted RCW 4.92.090 but also the reality that after the State waived sovereign immunity, liability to the State has been repeatedly determined in jury trials. And it makes sense that the courts, for decades, have assumed that there is a right to jury trial in tort actions against the State. When the Legislature abolished the State's sovereign immunity, it didn't develop an entirely new set of civil procedures that would apply to trials against the State. Yet certainly the Legislature did not intend that such cases would be tried in a vacuum. Rather, it was assumed by the Legislature, and by the courts, that existing civil procedures would apply. As the Oregon Court of Appeals noted when it concluded that the state of Oregon has a statutory right to jury trial, "we

¹⁰ See Evangelical United Brethren Church of Adna v. State, 67 Wn.2d 246, 407 P.2d 440 (1966); Raybell v. State, 6 Wn. App. 795, 496 P.2d 559 (1972); Stewart v. State, 92 Wn.2d 285, 597 P.2d 101 (1979); Taggart v. State, 118 Wn.2d 195, 822 P.2d 243 (1992); Savage v. State, 127 Wn.2d 434, 899 P.2d 1270 (1995); Joyce v. State, 155 Wn.2d 306, 119 P.3d 825 (2005).

are not aware of any authority for the proposition that when the state is a litigant in a civil action it does not have the same statutory rights as any other litigant." Thorp v. Dep't of Motor Vehicles, 480 P.2d 716, 719 (Or. App. 1971).

Indeed, this Court has repeatedly held that unless the Legislature directs otherwise the State is subject to the same litigation procedures as private litigants. In *Gorton*, 85 Wn.2d at 135, this Court rejected the State's argument that a new statutory cause of action, the Habitual Traffic Offenders Act of 1971, did not obligate the State to pay a filing fee. The Court reasoned that the Legislature enacted the law with full knowledge of the existing laws and had no reason to specifically mention that the State was obligated to pay a filing fee because existing law already contained that requirement. *Gorton*, 85 Wn.2d at 138 (citing RCW 4.84.170 as interpreted in *State ex rel. Hamilton v. Ayer*, 194 Wash. 165, 168, 77 P.2d 610 (1938)).

Following similar reasoning, in *Oda v. State*, 111 Wn. App. 79, 44 P.3d 8 (2002), the Court of Appeals recognized that the waiver of sovereign immunity contained in RCW 4.92.090 does not specifically waive immunity with respect to class actions under CR 23. Nevertheless, a tort case could be brought against the State as a class action. "Because persons and corporations are subject to class actions for damages arising

out of their discriminatory conduct, the State is also." Oda, 111 Wn. App. at 86.

More recently, in ZDI Gaming, Inc., v. State of Washington Gambling Comm'n, 173 Wn.2d 608, 621, 268 P.3d 929 (2012), this Court reversed its prior decision in State ex rel Thielicke v. Superior Court, 9 Wn.2d 309, 311-12, 114 P.2d 1001 (1941) that held that the change of venue statute did not apply to the State because the Legislature had established exclusive venue for actions against the State in Thurston County pursuant to article 2, section 26. In ZDI Gaming, this Court concluded that when the Legislature abolished sovereign immunity in RCW 4.92.090, it eliminated procedural distinctions that provided different treatment in actions against the State.

When the Legislature created liability for counties and cities in suits for damages this Court held that the effect of that enactment was "...not merely to give a right of action where none existed before, but to make municipal corporations subjected to suit as an ordinary party litigant and as such answerable under the general rules governing procedure in the superior courts." King County v. Superior Court of Pierce County, 104 Wash. 268, 271, 176 P 352 (1918). See also, Hickey v. City of Bellingham, 90 Wn. App. 711, 714, 953 P.2d 822 (1998) ("When municipal corporations became subject to suit the same as an ordinary

party litigant, they became answerable under the same general rules governing procedure in the superior courts.")

When the Legislature waived sovereign immunity in 1961, it directed that the State of Washington shall be liable "... the same extent as if it were a private person or corporation." RCW 4.92.090. Since that time, tort actions against the State have routinely been tried to juries. See footnote 10, supra. The decision of the Court of Appeals that there is no right to trial by jury in a tort action against the State is in conflict with the decisions of this Court, and presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be resolved by this Court. For these reasons, review is warranted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).

2. Civil Rules 38 And 39, Which Incorporate The Right To Trial By Jury Contained In RCW 4.40.060 And 4.44.090 Apply Uniformly To All Parties, Including The State

In addition to the statutory right to trial by jury that is afforded in RCW 4.40.060 and 4.44.090, the court rules also give all parties a right to jury trial in tort actions against the State. See CR 38 and CR 39. CR 38 provides that any party can request a jury trial in a civil case of any issue triable of right by jury. See Sackett, 146 Wn.2d at 507-08. CR 39 reserves how issues are tried to RCW 4.40.010 through RCW 4.40.070

and CR 39(a)(2) specifically reserves questions of fact for the jury, citing RCW 4.44.090.

The rules of civil procedure are required to be uniform under article IV, section 24 of the Constitution and to apply in all suits of a civil nature. See Const. art. IV, § 24; CR 1; RCW 2.08.230. Accordingly, CR 38 and 39 must apply to the State as they apply to all other parties in civil litigation. The conclusion of the Court of Appeals that the right to trial by jury is available to the parties in all other lawsuits, but does not apply in a tort action against the State creates two classes of tortfeasors, government and non-government, the type of unequal treatment that this Court rejected in Hunter v. North Mason High Sch., 85 Wn.2d 810, 539 P.2d 845 (1975) (striking a 120 day non-claim statute that effectively operated as a statute of limitations in favor of governmental tortfeasors, as a violation of equal protection). See also ZDI Gaming, Inc., 173 Wn.2d at 621.

3. The Court Of Appeals Erroneously Concluded That article 1, section 21 Does Not Afford The Parties A Right To Trial By Jury In A Tort Action Against The State

Because the State has a statutory right to request a jury trial in the present case, this Court need not reach the issue of whether the State has a

constitutional right as well. However, should the Court reach the issue, the Court should conclude that a constitutional right also exists.

The Washington Constitution provides:

The right of trial by jury shall remain inviolate, but the legislature may provide for a jury of any number less than twelve in courts not of record, and for a verdict by nine or more jurors in civil cases in any court of record, and for waiving of the jury in civil cases where the consent of the parties interested is given thereto."

Const. art. I § 21.

The right of jury trial: 'is no mere procedural formality, but a fundamental reservation of power in our constitutional structure. Just as suffrage ensures the people's ultimate control in the legislative and executive branches, jury trial is meant to ensure their control in the judiciary.

State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 938, 155 P.3d 125, 136 (2007) (citing State v. Evans, 154 Wn.2d 438, 445, 114 P.3d 627 (2005) (quoting Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 305–06, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 159 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2004))).

The plain language of article 1, section 21 is not limited to an individual's right to request a jury nor does the provision's history suggest that the right is so limited. Yet the Court of Appeals did not attempt to discern the plain meaning of the language nor did the court inquire into the provision's history. Rather, the court summarily and erroneously

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