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

To "maintain" an action is to uphold, continue on foot, and to keep 
from collapse a suit already begun, or to prosecute a suit with 
effect. George Moore Ice Cream Co. v. Rose. Ga., 289 U.S. 373, 53 
S.Ct. 620, 77 L.Ed. 1265 [(1933)]. To maintain an action or suit may 
mean to commence or institute it: the term imports the existence of 
a cause of action. Maintain, however, is applied to actions already 
brought, but not already reduced to judgment. Smallwood v. 
Gallardo, 275 U.S. 56, 48 S.Ct. 23, 72 L.Ed. 152 [(1927)]. In this 
connection it means to continue or preserve in or with; to carry on. 

Black's Law Dictionary 859 (5th ed. 1979).6 

This meaning can be seen again in the second use of "maintained" 

in RCW 4.92.090. The two variants of "maintain" used in RCW 4.92.090 

have the same meaning, which includes the ideas of continuing, 

prosecuting with effect, commencing or instituting suit against the State. 

ld. However, "maintain" does not import the idea of any procedural aspect 

of that suit, such as the existence, or not, of a jury trial. 

The State next focuses on the use of the phrase "as if [the State] 

was a person or corporation" taken completely out of context from RCW 

4.92.090. The State incorrectly argues use of the phrase "as if it was a 

person or corporation" shows the Legislature's intent that the State would 

have the right to a jury trial, just like a person or corporation.? However, 

the State's argument belies the context of the phrase. The sentence is 

6 Black's Law Dictionary contains many definitions for "maintain," but 
none of them suggests the idea of the inclusion of a jury trial. 

7 If the Legislature had intended the State to have the right for a jury 
trial it would have used plain language to say that, not hide that intention in 
other words and phrases. 
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talking about the extent, amount or measure of damages applicable to a 

private person or corporation. 

The state of Washington, ... shall be liable for damages arising out 
of its tortious conduct to the same extent as if it were a private 
person or corporation. 

RCW 4.92.090 (emphasis added). 

Use of the word "extent" cannot be ignored. "Extent" is defined as: 

Amount; scope; range; magnitude. 

Black's Law Dictionary 524 (5th ed. 1979). 

So, RCW 4.92.090 addresses the amount, scope or range of 

damages for which the State may be held liable due to the State's tortious 

conduct, such as in this case where the skipper of the State's ferry pulled 

the chair out from under Mr. Maziar's feet causing significant and lasting 

personal injury to Mr. Maziar. Maziar II, at 2. RCW 4.92.090 does not 

address the State's right to jury trial. 

The State next cites to RCW 4.84.170, which uses the language 

"liable ... to the same extent as private parties," making an ill-founded 

argument that RCW 4.84.170 provides the State with the right to a jury trial. 

In all actions prosecuted in the name and for the use of the state, or 
in the name and for the use of any county, and in any action 
brought against the state or any county, and on all appeals to the 
supreme court or the court of appeals of the state in all actions 
brought by or against either the state or any county, the state or 
county shall be liable for costs in the same case and to the same 
extent as private parties. 

RCW 4.84.170 (emphasis added). 
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However, that statute has nothing to do with the right to a jury trial. 

RCW 4.84.170, as the plain words say, addresses the obligation of the 

State or County to pay costs in certain cases to which the state is a party. 

RCW 4.84.170 was construed by this court in State ex rei. Hamilton 
v. Ayer, 194 Wash. 165,77 P.2d 210 (1938), which held the State is 
liable to pay a filing fee to Thurston County upon commencing a 
civil action in the Superior Court of said county. The court therein 
said, in part at [194 Wash. at] page 168, 77 P.2d [at] page 611: 

Rem.Rev.Stat. s 491, expressly places the State in the same 
position as private litigants insofar as its liability for costs 
and filing fees payable to the clerk of the superior court is 
concerned, except as otherwise provided by statute. 

Thurston County v. Gorton, 85 Wn.2d 133, 135, 350 P.2d 309, 311 (1975) 

(emphasis added). 

RCW 4.84.170 addresses the obligation to pay costs in certain 

cases brought by the State. It does not provide the State with a right to a 

jury trial. 

The State then mistakenly argues that RCW 4.40.060 and 4.44.090 

provide both individuals and the State with the right to a jury trial. As seen 

in Maziar II, neither statute provides the State with the right to a jury trial: 

Viewed in the context of the times, there is little doubt that neither 
the 1854 territorial legislature nor the 1869 territorial legislature was 
contemplating the statutes at issue [RCW 4.40.060 and 4.44.090] 
being applied to tort claims against the sovereign. 

Maziar II, at 23. 

There is no statutory basis for the State's claim that the Legislature 

provided the State with the right to a jury trial. 
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C. Cases Cited by the State. 

The State next turns to Sofie v. Fiber Board Corp., 122 Wn.2d 636, 

771 P.2d 711 (1989). This case does not help the State's argument. First, 

the Sofie court is clear that its analysis hinges on the same arguments 

adopted by the Court of Appeals in Maziar II. 

The second issue we must address is the determination of which 
causes of action the right to trial by jury attaches to. We have held 
in the past that the right attaches to actions in which a jury was 
available at common law as of 1889 and to actions created by 
statutes in force at this same time allowing for a jury. 

Sofie, 122 Wn.2d at 648, 771 P.2d at 718. 

A cause of action against the State is not a common law action, as 

under the common law the sovereign cannot be sued. Maziar II, at 21. 

And a claim against the State of Washington did not exist at the enactment 

of the State Constitution. Maziar II at 20-21. Further, the Legislature did 

not create a right for the State to a jury trial. Maziar II, at 23. So, under 

Sofie, there could not be a right for a jury trial in Mr. Maziar's case, 

because there was no action against the State in which the right to a jury 

was available at common law as of 1889, or by statutes then in force. 

The Sofie court expanded the right to a jury trial to include a modern 

variant of an existing common law claim for negligence: 

Ultimately, there is not even an issue whether the right to a jury 
attaches to the Sofies' case. While they asserted "newer" tort 
theories in their complaint, the heart of the appellants' cause of 
action centered on negligence and willful or wanton misconduct 
resulting in personal injury. See Plaintiff's Summons and Complaint, 
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at 4-5. These basic tort theories are the same as those that existed 
at common law in 1889. [Cases.] Subsequent cases and statutes 
have recognized newer theories of recovery within the framework 
of these basic tort actions, but the basic cause of action remains 
the same. Therefore, the right to trial by jury-with its scope as 
defined by historical analysis-remains attached here. 

Sofie, 122 Wn.2d at 649-50,771 P.2d at 718-19. 

Sofie does not help the State because the State's argument falls 

outside the framework of existing basic tort actions. The State asks the 

Courts to create a new procedural mechanism for a tort claim, a procedure 

the Legislature did not create, for a claim against the sovereign which has 

no parallel at common law. Maziar II, at 21. 

Next the State mistakenly argues that Oda v. State, 111 Wn.App. 79, 

4 P.3d 8 (2002), provides the basis to create a right to a jury trial for the 

State. Oda does not help the State. The Oda court applied the plain 

language of RCW 4.92.090, and found the extent or scope of liability for 

damages the State has for its tortious behavior is the same as that of a 

private person or corporation. The Oda court did not address any 

procedural aspect of such a claim. 

The State also cites to Dep't of Natural Res. v. Little John Logging 

Inc., 60 Wn.App. 671, 806 P.2d 779 (1991 ), which, as explained in Maziar II, 

at 18-19, "in no way assists with the inquiry in which we are engaged." 

Page 13 



D. Massachusetts Law. 

In prior briefing, the State cited to the Massachusetts Torts Claims 

Act to support its claim that Washington State's wavier of sovereign 

immunity, RCW 4.92.090, provides Washington State with the right to a jury 

trial. However, the Massachusetts Torts Claims Act demonstrates why 

RCW 4.92.090 does not provide the State with the right to a jury. 

The Massachusetts Tort Claims Act provides in pertinent part that 
"public employers shall be liable in the same manner and to the 
same extent as a private individual under like circumstances." G.L. 
c. 258, s 2. 

Beurklian v. Allen, 385 Mass. 1009, 432 N.E.2nd 707 (1982)(the full text of 

G.L. c. 258, s 2 is set out in Appendix B). 

Compare RCW 4.92.090: 

The state of Washington, whether acting in its governmental or 
proprietary capacity, shall be liable for damages arising out of its 
tortious conduct to the same extent as if it were a private person or 
corporation. 

It is the phrase "in the same manner" that distinguishes the 

Massachusetts Torts Claim Act from RCW 4.92.090. The phrase "in the 

same manner" is absent from RCW 4.92.090. 

"Manner" is defined as: 

A way, mode, method of doing anything, or mode of proceeding in 
any case or situation. See also Custom. 

Black's Law Dictionary 868 (5th ed. 1979). 

The fact RCW 4.92.090 does not contain the phrase "in the same 

manner" makes all the difference in statutory interpretation. Had the 
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Washington Legislature wanted to provide the State with the right to a jury 

trial it could have done so by adding the phrase "in the same manner" to 

RCW 4.92.090, just like in the Massachusetts Tort Claims Act. But the 

Washington Legislature did not do that. Instead, the Washington 

Legislature limited RCW 4.92.090 to the extent (amount, scope) of 

damages for which the State may be liable due to its tortious conduct. 

RCW 4.94.090 did not include any indication as to the "way, mode, 

method of doing anything, or mode of proceeding in any case or situation" 

against the State of Washington. If the Legislature would like to amend 

RCW 4.92.090 to include such language, it may do so under its 

constitutional powers, but unless, or until, the Legislature acts, the State 

does not have a right to a jury trial in Mr. Maziar's case. 

E. Court Rules. 

The State incorrectly argues CR 38 creates the right to a jury trial for 

the State. However, CR 38(a) states: 

The right of trial by jury as declared by article 1, section 21 of the 
constitution or as given by a statute shall be preserved to the 
parties inviolate. 

By its own terms, CR 38 does not create the right to a jury trial. It 

merely preserves that right if it already existed. Maziar II, at 23, fn 16. 

Black's Law Dictionary defines preservation as: 

.... It is not creation, but the saving of what already exists, and 
implies the continuance of what perviously existed. 
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Black's Law Dictionary 1066 (5th ed. 1979) 

As seen in Maziar II, the State had no right to a jury to be preserved. 

The State argues further that CR 39 creates a right for the State to a 

jury trial. Again, the words belie that claim. CR 39(a)(1) provides in part: 

When trial by jury has been demanded as provided in rule 38, the 
action shall be designated upon the docket as a jury action. 

Emphasis added. 

Since CR 38 does not create a right to a jury trial for the State, CR 

39 cannot do so either. The State's reliance on CR 38 and 39 is misplaced. 

Therefore, the State's Petition for Discretionary Review should be 

denied. If the Legislature would like to act, it may do so, but the decision 

of the Court of Appeals, Maziar II, does not require additional review on 

this issue. 

CROSS PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW 

Prejudgment Interest. 

The Court of Appeals erred in not awarding Mr. Maziar prejudgment 

interest on his general maritime claim for relief under RCW 4.92.090. This 

was in error because the State waived sovereign immunity for damages 

arising out of its tortious conduct to the same extent as if it were a private 

person or corporation. Maziar I, 151 Wn.App. at 1f 22 (860), 216 P.3d at 

435; RCW 4.92.090. Prejudgment interest is a substantive remedy in 

general maritime claims, which is to be awarded to the plaintiff in cases of 
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a private person's or corporation's tortious conduct. Endicott v. Icicle 

Seafoods. Inc., 167 Wn.2d at~ 31 (888), 224 P.3d at 769. 

[RCW 4.92.090] makes the State presumptively liable for its tortious 
conduct in all instances for which the legislature has not stated 
otherwise. Savage v. State, 127 Wash.2d 434, 445, 899 P.2d 1270 
(1995). The statute does not limit the State's liability to a particular 
area of law; rather, it covers any remedy for the State's tortious 
conduct. 

Maziar I, 151 Wn.App. at~ 22 (860), 216 P.3d at 435 

Therefore, Mr. Maziar should have been awarded prejudgment 

interest for the State's tortious conduct as the State waiver of sovereign 

immunity has no direct statutory exemption form prejudgment interest. The 

decision of the Court of Appeals on the issue of prejudgment interest 

should be heard by this Honorable Court on discretionary review. 

Lost Wages. 

The Court of Appeals erred in not reversing the trial court's failure to 

award lost wages after the State offered Mr. Maziar a job in the mail room. 

Mr. Maziar tried to return to work as a prison guard, but could not 

keep performing that job. CP 131-32 ~ 13. For some months, Mr. Maziar 

worked light duty for the State. RP 1 0-18-2011 at 82; 1 0-18-2011 at 11 0-12. 

There were also other open light duty jobs with the State that Mr. Maziar 

felt he could perform, and that he applied for. RP 10-18-2011 at 111-12. 

In November 2003, the State offered Mr. Maziar a job in the 

mail room, back on McNeil Island. Mr. Maziar did not feel it was safe to 
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attempt that job. RP 10-18-2011 at 109-10. Mr. Maziar believed the 

mailbags he would be required to move weighed 50 pounds and there was 

no equipment to help him move them. ld. 

Although he did not take the job in the mail room, a job he thought 

was too physical (RP 10-19-2011 at 58), Mr. Maziar applied for other jobs 

with the State that were open and for which he was qualified. RP 

10-18-2011 at 111-12; RP 10-19-2011 at 56-57. 

Despite Mr. Maziar's multiple attempts to mitigate his lost wages, the 

trial court found that because Mr. Maziar did not try the mailroom job "even 

if it's for five minutes" Mr. Maziar could not collect lost future wages. RP 

1-13-2012 at 12; and 26, and CP 140 at ,-r 51. 

The trial court erred when it found Mr. Maziar had not mitigated his 

wage loss. CP 140 ,-r 51. 

Mr. Maziar had an obligation to mitigate his damages. Cobb v. 

Snohomish County, 86 Wn.App. 223, 230, 235 P.2d 1384, 1398 (1997). He 

did that by working light duty and applying for other light duty jobs. But, 

It must be remembered that the respondent was forced into the 
dilemma by the negligence of the appellant. After the accident, 
respondent had the choice of two courses of conduct. He chose the 
one which seemed the more reasonable to him at the time. The 
wrongdoer cannot now complain that one alternative rather than the 
other was chosen. 

'* * * the party injured is not under any obligation to use more 
than ordinary diligence. Prudent action is required, but 'not 
that action which the defendant, upon afterthought, may be 
able to show would have been more advantageous to him.' 
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The amount of care required is not to be measured by 'ex 
post facto wisdom'; and the plaintiff is not bound at his peril to 
know the best thing to do.' 1 Sedgwick on Damages 415, 9th 
Ed.,§ 221. 

Hogland v. Klein, 49 Wn.2d 216, 221, 298 P.2d 1099, 1102 (1956) 

(emphasis in original). 

Mr. Maziar used ordinary diligence to both work and not suffer 

further injuries. Therefore. the decision of the trial court and Court of 

Appeals denying Mr. Maziar future wages after November 2003 is in error 

and should be heard by this Honorable Court on discretionary review. 

CONCLUSION 

The Court of Appeals decision on whether the State has the right to 

a jury trial is correct. If the State wants the right to a jury trial, the State 

should ask the Legislature for a change in RCW 4.92.090 to include 

language like that used in the Massachusetts waiver of sovereign 

immunity. The issue of the State's right to a jury trial regarding its tortious 

conduct does not require additional review. Therefore, the State's Petition 

for Discretionary Review should be denied. 

On the other hand, the failure to award prejudgment interest is a 

violation of RCW 4.92.090 and this Court's holding in Endicott v. Icicle 

Seafoods. Inc., 167 Wn.2d at ,-r 31 (888), 224 P.3d at 769. Since individuals 

and corporations are liable in damages for prejudgment interest in a 

maritime claim, the State should also be liable under RCW 4.92.090. 
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Additionally, when an injured plaintiff uses ordinary diligence to

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